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PART 1

THE COMMISSION




A chapel for the king of Portugal:
the controversial history of a truly
prodigious commission

Anténio Filipe Pimentel

1. History, legend and historiography
The story of the Chapel of St John the Baptist began in 1742 with the following
message, sent to the Portuguese ambassador in Rome: ‘His Majesty desires that
a design be made as soon as may be, by the finest architect, who is presently to
be found in Rome’ and culminated in 1747 when the work itself was shipped,
together with its treasure.? It was recognised at an early date that this was an
artistic ensemble of unquestionable value,® but despite that its history was soon
obscured by legend based on the references contained in Brother Cldudio da
Conceigao’s Gabinete Histérico (Cabinet of Historical Curiosities) dating from the
early nineteenth century.

According to Brother Claudio, when the monarch visited the old Jesuit church
(fig. 1) he is said to have noticed the contrast between the luxury displayed in most

of the chapels and the impoverished appearance of that dedicated to St John the
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Sketch for the Royal Palace
and Patriarchal Church of
Lisbon

Filippo Juvarra, 1719

(See fig. 5)

Fig. 1
Church of Sio Roque

(general view)



Fig. 2

Allegory of King John V
(St John the Baptist)
Charles de Rochefort
(engrav.), Pierre-Antoine
Quillard (inv.) [author

of original drawing], engrav.
Lisbon, 1732

Etching, black and white
Biblioteca Nacional de
Portugal [National Library
of Portugal], Lisbon

(ref. E.693A)
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Baptist. As this was his own patron saint, the king
apparently decided to take it under his direct care
and protection. Once the relevant maquette had
been made and approved, the design was executed,
assembled and consecrated in Rome, with a mass cel-
ebrated in the chapel by the pope himself. It was then
dismantled and sent to Portugal, where it was erected
on the site intended for it and unveiled to the public
for the first time in 1751 — too late for John V. who
had died almost six months before (fig. 2).*

The chapel has excited admiration ever since,
not only for its inimitable luxury and the mastery of
its execution’ but because it is prized as a ‘creation
unique in the context of Portuguese art’,° ‘a monu-
ment that foreshadows Neoclassicism’” or even a
thoroughgoing illustration of the aesthetic clash between Portugal’s conservative,
traditional baroque style and the reforming, classicising principles that dominated
artistic creation in Rome at that time.®

In recent years, in fact, the Chapel of St John the Baptist has once more come
to receive renewed critical attention.

2. Politics, diplomacy and devotion

The pious account given by Brother Cldudio, however, does not stand up to critical
reading. It contains numerous controversial elements, none more so than the one
that constitutes the very bedrock of the narrative: the fact that the chapel was sup-
posedly dedicated to the monarch’s patron saint.” This was hardly going to escape
the notice of the chapel’s first great historian, Sousa Viterbo, and it is in fact quite
clear from the documentation that the chapel was dedicated to the Holy Spirit."
Given this, it seems clear that associating the chapel with the king’s miraculous name-
sake was the result of a royal decree and done with a view to enhancing the king’s
prestige — much as his grandfather Manuel [ had set out to do two centuries earlier. "

In fact this metaphorical allusion to the sovereign was to form part of a deliberate
process of exalting royalty itself, of which the architectural design of the chancel
of the Royal Basilica of Mafra'? (figs 3 and 4) also constituted a fundamental stage.
With this in mind we must therefore view the complex process of constructing this
sumptuous chapel, and the choices made in doing so, in a different light.

One fact, nonetheless, seems beyond question today: the traditional insistence
that this was a ‘creation unique in the context of Portuguese art’'® is wrong. In reality,
the chapel was part of a larger undertaking at the epicentre of the symbolic and ide-
ological system under the reign of John V: the Patriarchal Basilica established in 1716
and centred on the royal chapel in the palace of Ribeira. What is known today of this
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great undertaking demands — in the light of their aesthetic similarity'* and the vastly

greater scale of the latter — that the Chapel of St John the Baptist be recognised as
constituting an appendix or subordinate phase' of the Patriarchal Basilica.

The first patriarch of Lisbon himself, Tomas de Almeida — an admitted intellec-
tual disciple of the Jesuit fathers'® — sought to recreate in Lisbon the same cere-
monial link as that established in Rome between Il Gestu (the central church of the
Jesuit Order) and the Papal Basilica, an initiative of obvious significance given the
ideological context in which he consecrated his own Lisbon jurisdiction under the
epithet of the ‘Rome of the West’.

The commissions involved in both projects combined both political and liturgi-
cal business dealings, running in parallel in the Eternal City via the same diplomatic
channels and addressed to the same circle of artists. And they were intended for
the same purpose: for the Patriarchal Basilica project, under the direction of Jodo
Frederico Ludovice.'” Nicola Salvi and Luigi Vanvitelli, the Roman architects who
designed the chapel, were also responsible for the commissions intended for the
patriarchate; here too the process was marked by the same repeated episodes of
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Fig. 3
Royal Palace of Mafra
(View of the facade)



Fig. 4
High altar of the Royal
Basilica of Mafra
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criticism and refusal of designs sent from
Rome that were characteristic of the pro-
cess of work on the chapel: a very particular
‘dialogue in design’ between Lisbon and the
Papal city.'®

The choice of Rome for this commission
was doubtless influenced by its centre-stage
position in international diplomacy, partic-
ularly with regard to the Catholic powers.
From the very first this city played a central
role in the efforts invested abroad in terms
of diplomacy under the Aviz or Johannine
dynasty and, consequently, in diplomacy
in artistic spheres as well. This investment
was reflected in the importation of works of
art and of artists involved in domestic proj-
ects, which were swiftly and unequivocally
positioned as a tool of national affirmation
and propaganda.'’ Relationships — and the
resulting tensions — of a strictly political and
diplomatic nature were thus inextricably
intertwined with more specifically cultural
and artistic relations.?

It is no coincidence that the triple com-
mission (the Patriarchal Basilica, the Chapel
of St John the Baptist and its treasure?') was
set in motion at the time when the Portuguese sovereigns were granted the title
of Majestade Fidelissima (Most Faithful Majesty), and, particularly, just when rumours
were spreading of a worsening decline in the income of the Portuguese Crown —
rumours that it was becoming necessary to nip in the bud in Rome, the central
forum of international diplomacy:.

In this context, it is very likely that the decision to commission this fabulous
chapel from the same workshops and with the same scheduling and administrative
oversight as the impressive aesthetic reform of the Patriarchal Basilica, did indeed
constitute a programa anexo, an appendix or subordinate scheme intended to rein-
force the political and diplomatic effect so ardently desired by the government of
John V: that of equipping the Lisbon court with a liturgical setting to match their
ambitions, and at the same time to provide international affirmation of the status of
the Portuguese Crown, aiming to make such a display of unlimited financial capac-
ity as to dispel all doubt.

This, then, is the historical context — the intersection of interests and events
— against whose backdrop an explanation can be found not only for the unique,
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complex and indeed quarrelsome process that surrounded the chapel’s execution
in Lisbon and in Rome, but also for the fact that this little ‘Capella de Mosaico, o
melhor que fosse possivel’ (chapel of mosaic, the best that may be possible) was
transformed into an axis about which a veritable constellation of treasures, of gold,
silver, jewellery, vestments and liturgical accoutrements, comprised ‘one of the most
important museums of the Italian decorative arts of the age’.*

3. From the Patriarchal Basilica to the Royal Chapel of St John the Baptist
For the reasons referred to above, it is important to trace the process whereby the
royal chapel was transformed during the later elevation of the church to collegiate
status in 1710 and to Patriarchal Basilica in 1716, together with the great transfor-
mation that was to culminate in 1746 in its re-consecration.

In a country where social status was measured by ecclesiastical standards, in fact,
the spectacle of the court — whose actors had to perform their role in a physical
setting that was itself without any grandiose proportions — could not resist appro-
priating liturgical pomp for its own benefit in a process that was facilitated by the
obvious affinities between religious and courtly ceremony.?® The staging of great
religious ceremonies would thus enable the monarch to conduct the daily life of the
court in brilliant style, without having to make too many concessions to the aristoc-
racy — while at the same time ensuring the allegiance of a church flattered by its royal
connection even as it was increasingly subordinated to royalist policies.

Indeed, it was in the dramatic context of the restoration of independence in
1640, and the Gallicanist theories that agitated the French Church in the sixteenth
and seventeenth centuries, that the possibility was first raised in Portugal of organ-
ising the national ecclesiastical hierarchy in a way that was administratively inde-
pendent of Rome’s pastoral authority. The intention was to place the Portuguese
Church under the authority of a patriarch, subordinate to the Apostolic See only
in matters of dogma and moral questions.?* Half a century later, the issue arose
again — now in the context of reinforcing the absolute authority of the monarch.
The Patriarchal Basilica was established in the royal chapel of the palace of Ribeira
and placed under the authority of the patriarch, effectively endowing the new
capital city of West Lisbon with the religious apparatus of a miniature version of
the Vatican.”” The years just prior to this had not been particularly conducive to
grandiose endeavours, however. Portuguese involvement in the Spanish War of
Succession and all the attendant economic difficulties and social instability this
brought in its wake had created permanent obstacles to the monarch’s cherished
re-building plans, and it is probable that the reforms carried out suffered from a
lack of coordination imposed by the circumstances.

This process proved beneficial to the concurrent project of works at the con-
vent of Mafra built under Ludovice’s direction: the project was launched in the
years in which the religious status of the royal chapel was elevated, and by 1721-22
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Fig. 5

Sketch for the Royal
Palace and Patriarchal
Church of Lisbon
Filippo Juvarra, 1719
Pen-and-ink drawing

in brown ink,

pencil quadriculation
Palazzo Madama — Museo
Civico d’Arte Antica
[Civic Museum of Ancient
Art], Turin (inv. 1859/DS,
vol. 1, f. 96, dr. 157)
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the convent underwent a radical reconfiguration, quadrupling the built-up area to
create an unusual synthesis of royal palace, royal basilica, a pantheon for the monar-
chical dynasty, a convent, college and library. Here, the very architecture of royal
power as John V was to shape it was realised in concrete form, embracing both
secular and ecclesiastical elements in a harmonic and original synthesis.?°

After the failure of Filippo Juvarra’s plans for a sumptuous royal residence to be
erected on the Tagus — designed with high theatricality, surrounded by magnificent
gardens and encompassing, in a single architectural complex, both the patriarchal
see and the residence of the metropolitan prelate — the monarch returned his atten-
tions to the palace of Ribeira. Here, in the years that followed, the reforms took
on new life and energy, drawing between 1728 and 1732 on the collaboration of
another Italian architect: Antonio Canevari (fig. 5).%’

In 1729 Mafra would once again occupy the sovereign’s attention with the aim
of proceeding, in October of the following year, to its consecration. Once this had
been achieved, however, the frenzy of building work on this great monument ebbed
and, little by little, the palace of Ribeira — which was, after all, the true centre of
political life and served to represent the country — once again became the focus of
the king’s energies. Until the end of his reign, the royal residence on the Largo da
Patriarcal continued to be embellished with new additions, culminating in 1749 with
the apartments of the princess of Beira and her sisters (overseen by Ludovice alone
after Antonio Canevari returned to Rome in the middle of 1732).

The two floors that offer a record of the patriarchal building project — the only
surviving testimony of the extensive remodelling carried out in this area of the
palace (figs 6 and 7)?* — show that the body of the old church would have remained
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essentially unscathed. The projects of work carried out in 1712 and 1713 focused
mainly on the chancel, making it possible to incorporate neighbouring buildings
and extend the complex of the Patriarchal Basilica. The chancel was extended so
far during the first phase of these works that it reached exactly the same length
as the nave. The Evangile or ‘gospel side’ chapel on the left was dedicated to the
Blessed Sacrament, and the one on the opposite side to the Holy Family; the lat-
ter extended only halfway back, leaving room in the rear for the casa do tesouro or
treasury.

Perpendicular to this and opening directly onto it was the exceptionally rich
Chapel of the Immaculate Conception, round which there extended a veritable
labyrinth of annexes and sacristies and so on. Here there stood, resplendent, a mag-
nificent statue in silver of the Virgin, commissioned from Giovanni Battista Maini
in 1744 in accordance with detailed plans drawn up by Ludovice and dispatched
by the king’s secretary, Father Joao Baptista Carbone.* At the opposite end of
the church, three doors led to the palace by way of a gallery running round the
Chapel Courtyard, and to the apartments of the metropolitan prelate, which were
reached by a long staircase. On the Epistle (right-hand) side, another staircase® led
from the nave to this courtyard on the ground-floor level and to other rooms and
annexes on the upper level. The nave on the Evangile or gospel (left-hand) side, in
its turn, opened onto the outside by way of the famous staircase of five flights lead-
ing to where the new atrium — which in 1719 was still being built — now stood like
a vast, modern square; the Patriarchal church square was thus transformed by this
access route into the dynamic nucleus of a programme of urban design that sought
to bring a whole amalgam of disparate constructions together in an aesthetically
coherent project (fig. 8).
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Fig. 6

Floor plan of the Patriarchal
Basilica (post. 1755)
Drawing in Indian ink,

grey wash

Biblioteca da Ajuda
[‘Assistance’ Library],
Lisbon (Ms. 54-XI-38,

docs 17 and 17b)

Fig. 7

Floor plan of the First
Patriarchal Church

c. 1775 (2)

Drawing in Indian ink,
washes

Biblioteca Nacional de
Portugal [National Library
of Portugal], Lisbon

(D. 13R)



Fig. 8

Ruins of Patriarchal
[Church] Square after
the Earthquake of 1755
Jacques-Philippe Le Bas
(engrav.), Miguel Tibério
Pedegache Brandao Ivo (dr.),
1757

Watercolour engraving
Museu da Cidade

[City Museum], Lisbon
(inv. RC. GRA. 0441)

PART I | THE COMMISSION

- —

T - ity
e 7 o //,;/v»// - ,yyudrv/ tnmscdliontely s e B kT I QOARE wnd FIRE, o e e
3 Poviind poe ot ad e e v

r R—

As part of a renewed investment of both money and effort on the architec-
tural and urban development front, the Royal Basilica underwent a systematic cycle
of aesthetic renovation that was symbolically crowned by the re-consecration of
1746. To this end a methodical operation was undertaken to send in excess of 320
packing-cases from Rome containing paintings, sculptures, vestments, tapestries,
silverware, books and decorative metalwork for the Chapel of Sao Roque; there
were also samples of various types of stone — though the earliest consignments
included wooden replicas on a 1:1 scale for the three altars for the basilica of Sao
Pedro.?! In the event, the hopes of extending the building or erecting a new one
were dashed; the renovation of the Patriarchal Basilica focused entirely on system-
atically transforming its interior, which was fabulously enriched and embellished
with regalia and accoutrements obtained from the Eternal City.*

The decision to use Roman labour (always working within the guidelines sent
from Lisbon) expressed a conscious wish to adopt this method of achieving the
most effective outward reflection of the art of the Portuguese court.

Just as in the Chapel of St John the Baptist, tensions arose — most particularly
with regard to the involvement of Luigi Vanvitelli in the plans for the new baptis-
tery in the royal chapel,®® because this crucial element lay at the very heart of the
entire project of works and Ludovice, in his role as overall coordinator, jealously
reserved for himself the task of defining its conceptual aesthetic and sense of
plasticity, determining the architectural direction of the entire undertaking.®*

Careful analysis of the commissioning of the Chapel of St John the Baptist thus
casts an objective light not only on the establishment of this extraordinary enter-
prise, but also on that of the Patriarchal Basilica, revealing the coherence and indi-
visibility of the two. m
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THE CHAPEL OF ST JOHN THE BAPTIST
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The Royal Chapel of St John the Baptist:
a ‘dialogue in design’ between Lisbon
and Rome

Anténio Filipe Pimentel

1. The many forms of a singular commission

Once having grasped the complexity of the designs — aesthetic, symbolic, political
and diplomatic — that were to govern the realisation of the Royal Chapel of St John
the Baptist, it is important to go back and look at the commission’s strict admin-
istrative process that began with a message sent on 26 October 1742 by Father
Joao Baptista Carbone to Commander Manuel Pereira de Sampaio, the Portuguese
ambassador in Rome.' The pious account of Brother Claudio da Conceicao must
also be taken as a primary source, even though it is already at some distance from
the facts it reports.

The latter in fact states that the king had ordered measurements to be taken ‘by
his architects’ and sent to Rome with a view to having a chapel made there: ‘huma
Capella de Mosaico, o melhor que fosse possivel’ (a chapel of mosaic, the best that
may be possible’.2

Together with his message, Carbone sent plans and elevations. In the contents
of the order itself there was written clarification to the effect that ‘fica na liberdade
do mesmo architecto usar de toda a casta de marmores mais raros e vistosos, assim
dos antigos como dos modernos ... tendo amplo arbitrio de ornar tudo o mais
nobremente e do melhor gosto que lhe for possivel’ (let the architect himself be
free to use every rank and order of the rarest and most strikingly flamboyant kinds
of marble, both the ancient and the modern ... having free rein to adorn the whole
the most nobly and in the finest taste that he may)® — and yet it was recognised
from the first that the king was directly involved in the process of commissioning
the chapel,* with all the repercussions that this was to have with regard to aes-
thetic choices.

The artistic commission sent to Rome thus involved the production of an ensem-
ble work (the chapel) which was addressed to the ‘best architect, who is presently
to be found in Rome’. The choice fell on a partnership consisting of Nicola Salvi
(1699—1751) and Luigi Vanvitelli (1700-73).°

A disciple of Antonio Canevari® and a leading light in Roman aesthetics, at
this time Salvi was absorbed in completing his celebrated masterpiece, the Trevi
Fountain.” This may have brought him into contact with Luigi Vanvitelli, whom
Benedict XIV had just put in charge of the Fabbrica di San Pietro® — the workshop
complex at St Peter’s which oversaw the construction and maintenance of the

30

pp. 26-27

Decoration of the altar
table (frontal)

Antonio Arrighi
Gilded metal

(See fig. 50)

pp. 28-29

View of the Chapel of
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(See fig. 112)
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building and its treasures — as both architects had entered the competitions for
the fountain and for the facade of the basilica of San Giovanni in Laterano (St
John Lateran).’

Ambassador Manuel Pereira de Sampaio’s chosen architect(s) were to be
offered both this commission and that of the baptistery of the Patriarchal Basilica.
Historiographal analysis has now established Vanvitelli’s authorial role,'’ but the
documentation shows that payments were made to both artists!' and the words of
Joao Frederico Ludovice, their interlocutor in Lisbon, also testify to this."

Nonetheless, the (quite natural) obligation laid down in Carbone’s message
— that the project had to be submitted for the monarch’s prior approval — was
to introduce a powerfully destabilising factor in the form of the king’s artistic
adviser, Ludovice. And it was not long before the project became embroiled in

complications.

2. A (blazing) debate in design

The outlines that are known to us today — three drawings and a preliminary sketch,
preserved in the Museum of San Martino in Naples and in the library of the Royal
Palace of Caserta respectively (figs 9—12) — reveal an architecture strongly influ-
enced by the Roman Baroque of Borromini, with sculpture taking on an explicitly
dramatic role after the manner of Bernini.

In fact, the chapel was to be designed starting with a round or Roman arch
(which already existed and therefore had to be accommodated) guarded by
angel-candelabra with flying robes and flanked by hollow Corinthian pilasters at
whose apex an armillary sphere was displayed, held up by fluttering putti, beneath
the royal crown and a mantel of ermine from which hung festoons or garlands. The
interior was to be composed of a rectangular space ending in a shallow recess that
projected to form a frame around the altarpiece, and covered over with a vaulted
ceiling of octagonal coffering. In this design the altarpiece or retable was seen
emerging between densely clustered archivolts aligned with the two Corinthian
pilasters that formed the intrados of the side arch and the half-columns that flanked
the doorways leading onto the adjacent chapels on either side. On the side doors
there were to be panels intended for the Annunciation and Pentecost, with an lonic
entablature running all round the top (without any frieze).

Within the area of the recess, amply highlighted by the placement of another
side arch and also adorned with a coffering motif — though here the coffering is
quadrangular in shape and arranged radially — the pilasters were to be repeated
at the back; against these there would stand out four false or non-load-bearing
columns arranged in an almost regular formation to frame the altarpiece. The altar-
piece itself, which partially covers the central columns, was to be composed of a
slightly tilted, elliptical panel crowned with cherubim and putti bearing a phylactery
and dramatically supported by two angels posed as if carrying it: a motif that
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Borromini had designed for the apex of the main facade of the Roman Church of
San Carlo alle Quattro Fontane and which was in fact later made into an altarpiece.
The altar table, comprised of an urn resting on two lions and styled to suggest
antiquity, introduced an almost dissonant note, while the royal escutcheon stood
out on the paved floor. The chapel was to be enclosed by a convex balustrade
reached by ascending two steps. Obtaining approval for this design was to prove
no easy matter.
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Fig. 9

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church
of Sao Roque. View of
the altar and section
Luigi Vanvitelli,

1st project, 1742
Drawing in brown ink,
grey watercolour

Palazzo Reale [Royal Palace],
Caserta, Campania

(no. 378 D, inv. 1951/52)

Fig. 10

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church

of Sao Roque. Transverse
and longitudinal sections
Luigi Vanvitelli,

1st project, 1742
Drawing in pencil and ink,
watercolour

Museo Nazionale di San
Martino [National Museum
of San Martino], Naples
(inv. 3328/2)



Fig. 11

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church

of Sao Roque. Outer arch
and plan

Luigi Vanvitelli,

1st project, 1742

Drawing in pencil and ink,
watercolour

Museo Nazionale di San
Martino [National Museum
of San Martino],

Naples (inv. 3328/1)

Fig. 12

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church

of Sao Roque. Outer arch
Luigi Vanvitelli,

1st project, 1742

Drawing in pencil and ink,
watercolour

Museo Nazionale di San
Martino [National Museum
of San Martino],

Naples (inv. 3328/4)
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Indeed, a month and a half after the arrival of )/
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In a letter dated the seventh of the following
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April, Sampaio replied that ‘the architects raised jQ_ﬂ,,fé’/,%/;f,‘j}Q pﬂnﬁp‘-z{y, ,g

several questions about the instructions that came A‘W’”’Je
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Lisbon, and on 28 July Carbone in turn sent him the f=t /’ Jﬂg;%ﬂ"%‘///"‘/
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reply'® from the court architect with the suggestion - ﬂ ué /% /;,.ﬂa,, Z/M&/’w

that ‘caprichos pittorescos, que nao siao admissiveis ‘ d./M,n
em huma Capella que se manda fazer de architettura
nobre, séria e rica’ (picturesque caprices, which are
not admissible in a chapel that is ordered to be made with architecture that is
noble, serious and rich) should be excluded, and enjoining that the memoranda
be adhered to (fig. 13)."7

On 1 August, Sampaio wrote that the order was ‘repartida por infinitos Artifices,
segundo as matérias de que ella consta’ (divided between an infinite number of
craftsmen, according to the materials of which it is composed) and, on 31 August,
he continued in the same tone, reporting that ‘Na Capella ... se trabalha com
muita diligencia, tendo-se adiantado de sorte, que concorre bastante gente por
conta da curiosidade do Paiz, e Sua Santidade me intimou o querer vel-a antes que
se embarque’ (In the chapel ... work proceeds very diligently and has advanced so
much that many people come flocking from across the country out of curiosity, and
His Holiness has indicated to me that he wishes to see it before it is embarked).'®

In the face, therefore, of criticisms and corrections that were merely literary, the
work is thought to have continued and run over for many months, reaching such
a point that Sampaio regularly increased the cost. The preamble was followed by
minute instructions on every constituent part of this small but sumptuous temple,
right down to the smallest detail: from the vaulted ceiling, whose archivolts were to
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List of designs drawn
for the project by Jodo
Frederico Ludovice for
the Chapel of St John
the Baptist (roll)
Biblioteca da Ajuda
[‘Assistance’ Library],
Lisbon (Ms. 49-VIII-27,
f. 141)
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Study of the royal monogram

for the Chapel of St John the Baptist

Joao Frederico Ludovice, 1744

Drawing in black pencil, pen and watercolour wash
in black and grey

Museu Nacional de Arte Antiga [National Museum of Ancient

Art], Lisbon (inv. 194 Des. [Drawings])

.‘. = "
O - —J. o
Vs ool T
-fg‘ Sl iy (g
s e : : 2,
| B B |
- : :
i s
| |
H T
Bl
B
! el
| [
| |
! i
ot Sl S ~—
] |
‘ 1
5
v .:&_‘j
o
v;\‘
b
|
: i
5 [ &
i [
el
1
m—u*t;lf_- ;
3 2 i YL o LI
N S : i)
e L ‘
Fig. 14

PART Il | THE CHAPEL OF ST JOHN THE BAPTIST | ARCHITECTURE

4
Ty
o |
)
2 |
] )'/.’rg jt‘iywu '7!'&447 “"‘"‘90’
/7‘-_,# A.Giakr,a& -}G
2 |y
34
b
N
: * mmmer /g
i >
;( ) |
i \
Fig. 15

Study for the Portuguese royal escutcheon

for the Chapel of St John the Baptist

Joao Frederico Ludovice, 1744

Drawing in pen, ink, black pencil, India ink wash
Museu Nacional de Arte Antiga [National Museum
of Ancient Art], Lisbon (inv. 195 Des. [Drawings])

follow the order of the pillars and columns, in light-coloured marble, with festoons

or garlands of gilded brass; to the lunettes that it should have on either side; to the

entablature and its ornamentation to the altarpiece and its frontispiece, the side

doors, the footing and finally, to the royal arms and cyphers."

Finally, on 9 March, there followed the complete drawings of the chapel show-

ing the plan, the front and side elevations and the royal escutcheon and monogram

Fig. 16 (overleaf)
Capital
Francesco Giardoni

Gilded metal

(figs 14 and 15), together with the design of the cyma, with the plan and profile of
the footing. On the same day there followed yet more detailed instructions on the
structure of various elements of the chapel, such as corbels for the cruets to hold
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wine and water, confessionals, the gates of the balustrade and side doors, lamps
and so on.?

The arrival in Rome of these papers and the drawings that accompanied them,
at a time when — according to the ambassador — work on the chapel was already so
far advanced ‘de sorte, que ... Sua Santidade me intimou o querer ve-la antes que se
embarque’ (such that ... His Holiness intimated to me that he wished to see it before
it is embarked) must have come as a bombshell. Immediately, then, on 12 April,
Sampaio wrote to Lisbon acknowledging receipt of the papers and testifying to the
surprise they had caused;?' at the same time he did not fail to send the Roman archi-
tects’ response to the alterations and instructions issued by the Lisbon architect.

If these papers, the schedule and their respective drawings drawn up in Lis-
bon caused astonishment in Rome, the impact of the response (now lost, but
which apparently ‘filled twelve sheets of paper’®?) was no less great. An answer
was not long in coming, and was expressed in terms of such vehemence as to call
for explanation from Father Carbone.? The reply consists of a long and well-
grounded dissertation in defence of the centinado; that is to say, the use of a curved
line set against a straight line, specifically understood as the theoretical basis of
this arrangement’s compositional potential — at least in the sense in which it has
been interpreted.*

But the truth is that we are entirely ignorant of the statements contained in the
12 pages of Vanvitelli’s manifesto, whose loss leaves us in the dark with regard to

the actual question to which Ludovice was responding.

3. One (master)piece and three authors
Whatever the facts, it remains inescapable that somewhere between the drawings
being sent to Lisbon in December 1742 and the final work there was a metamor-
phosis, brought about by applying the instructions sent from Lisbon and, above
all, the drawings that accompanied them. This is the only way to understand the
execution of the two successive models.?

Ludovice’s decisions were imposed by means of drawings on the entirety of
Vanvitelli’s project: the exterior elevation (whose design and appearance were to
be completely changed by eliminating the Corinthian pilasters, the angel-cande-
labras and the convex balustrade) as well as the apex (where the royal escutcheon
flanked by angels was to replace Vanvitelli’s proposed panoply with the royal
mantle extended above an armillary sphere held up by guardian spirits). It is inter-
esting to compare the shield with the design moulded in bronze intended to be
applied on the sides of the altar, and the way the arch is interrupted at the base
of the shield by the curlicues of its corresponding frame. Other changes included
the distribution of pilasters and columns (and the number of flutes on each) in
the internal elevations; the entablature, which was Corinthian, imposed in its
entirety, and the decoration of its corresponding frieze; and the structure and
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decoration of the vaulted ceiling, with its lunettes set in the protuberant part
of the side panels, to give ‘matéria para se enriquecer’ (matter for enrichment).
This must have referred to the ovate bas-reliefs carved by Carlo Marchionni and
Bernardino Ludovisi, as there could be no other lunettes in a vaulted ceiling nec-
essarily without openings. Other changes included the mouldings framing the
panels ‘de bronze com bellos lavores dourados’ (of bronze, with beautiful gilded
working) and the adoption of gilded bronze for the column capitals and bases;
the structure of the altar and its corresponding altarpiece (attached to the wall,
with its rectilinear panel topped with a semicircle — a design that Ludovice had
published in Portugal — flanked by four columns and with a sculpture centred on
the apex); the steps of the altar; the decision to eliminate the royal escutcheon on
the paved floor and to replace it, as in the Patriarchal Basilica, with mosaic tables
with an armillary sphere and its attributes; and indeed the very design of the
royal cypher that was to adorn the chancel, the side doors and, together with the
escutcheon, the altar table below the upper edging of the pedestals ‘por piedade
e reverencia que o dono tem a tio sagrado lugar’ (out of piety and the reverence
that its owner bears to such a holy place)?® (figs 17 and 18).

The same is true, furthermore, of the fabulous treasure, which was also clearly
the subject of a dialogue in design — one of which, however, we have scarcely any
surviving record. Yet here too, it will undoubtedly be worth pursuing the trail of
the architect-goldsmith Ludovice.””

One conclusion can thus be clearly drawn: if the design of the chapel did ulti-
mately take on a classical nature — which has led history to regard it as a turning
point in the evolution of Portuguese architecture — this was not something imposed
from Rome ‘contra a opiniao e o gosto expressos em Lisboa’ (contrary to the opin-
ion and taste expressed in Lisbon).?® On the contrary, this was in fact at the strong
insistence of those in Lisbon who determined the elements that defined the aes-
thetics of power — however much it might go against the prevailing winds that were
blowing in Rome.

Indeed, execution of the Chapel of St John the Baptist can only be understood
in relation to that other, parallel project — the remodelling of the Patriarchal
Basilica. The obsessive referencing of all things Roman visible in the Johannine
aesthetic cannot be separated from the very specific goal of converting this city on
the Tagus into the Rome of the West. In fact, having these sumptuous commissions
executed in the most prestigious workshops of the Eternal City was an integral part
of a foreign policy designed to elevate the image of the Portuguese monarch and his
kingdom. This policy was deemed all the more necessary because — at a time when
the kingdom was in decline — the king was in fact no longer as fabulously wealthy as
he once had been, and the construction costs were rising exponentially.?? What was
intended, then, was to endow the Lisbon court with a religious setting in keeping
with its ambitions, in the service of a political programme intended to glorify the
Portuguese Crown and involving both the Patriarchal Basilica and the Chapel of St
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John the Baptist, while at the same time making use of the specialised — but above
all prestigious, and internationally renowned — labour force that Rome could offer
(the fact that Vanvitelli was the architect of St Peter’s would not have been irrele-
vant in the process of choosing him). The aim was to give the art of John V’s court
a visibility beyond the frontiers of Portugal, to which it could scarcely aspire if the
project were confined within national borders from its conception to its execution,
and at the same time to glorify the Crown as part of a plan to affirm its high status
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Fig. 17

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church
of Sao Roque.

View and plan

Luigi Vanvitelli,

2nd project, 1743—44
Drawing in pencil and
brown ink, brown and white
watercolour

Palazzo Reale [Royal
Palace], Caserta (no. 248,
inv. 1951/52)

Fig. 18

Chapel of St John the
Baptist for the Church

of Sao Roque. Longitudinal
and transverse sections
Luigi Vanvitelli,

2nd project, 1743—44
Drawing in pencil and ink,
watercolour

Museo Nazionale di San
Martino [National Museum
of San Martino], Naples
(inv. 3328/3)
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internationally — a plan that went far beyond these artistic commissions, and placed

them at the service of a coherent image of power.

Meanwhile, work on the chapel was progressing. Sampaio conveyed the news to
Lisbon that the pope had informed him he ‘wished to consecrate the altar before
it departs™® and in fact this consecration took place in the Church of Sant’Antonio
dei Portoghesi.?! Everything indicates, however, that only the altar was consecrated
on this occasion and in fact the entire chapel was erected and exhibited to pub-
lic admiration in the Capponi—Cardelli Palace during the course of that month —
which was precisely one of the purposes it was intended to fulfil.

Seemingly indestructible, the Chapel of St John the Baptist, together with its
treasure, survived even the great Lisbon earthquake; effectively it is a single, uni-
fied ensemble based on the intrinsic coherence of the final work, as if born of a
single mind to whose brilliance (despite the acknowledgement that is of course due
to all the many individuals who contributed to its execution) it ultimately offers the
most eloquent and indisputable testimony:*?

Let us therefore echo the words — no less fair an account for all that their author
shrouds it in the haze of legend — of Brother Claudio da Conceigao, the first who
sought to set down its history: ‘uma das preciosidades mais raras, nao digo s6 de
Portugal, mas do Mundo inteiro’ (one of the rarest treasures, not of Portugal only,
say |, but of the whole world).** m
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commissions, no care was ever taken here that they should cost so much, since Frederico himself, who gave the
instructions, understood that the whole work of the chapel would cost some half a million.” He returned to the
subject on 27 June, saying, ‘For Frederico, who was in Rome and saw the famous Chapel of Sao Ignacio, that
cost 100,000 escudos, ruled that ours would cost no more than 200 thousand’ (Francisco Marques de Sousa

VITERBO and R. Vicente ’ALMEIDA, op. cit., p. 13, note 1).
39 Ibid. p. 138.
31 Ibid. p. 139.

32 Robert C. SMITH, Jodo Frederico Ludovice, an eighteenth century architect in Portugal’, in Art Bulletin,
vol. XVIII, 3, 1936, p. 362.

33 Frei Claudio da CONCEICAO, op. cit., vol. IX, pp. 53-54.
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